ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Horry County

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 20 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

LUTHER GARNER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001312

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to object to the unconstitutionally coercive *Allen* charge?

STATEMENT

A Horry County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the March 1, 2007 term of General Sessions for murder, first degree burglary, armed robbery, and attempted armed robbery. App. 888-893. His case was called to trial on May 29, 2007 before the Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, and a jury. Solicitor Jimmy Richardson and Assistant Solicitor Candice A. Lively represented the state, and Stuart M. Axelrod represented Petitioner. App. 1.

After the state rested, the court directed a verdict of acquittal for armed robbery. App. 413, l. 15 – 414, l. 5. On June 1, 2007, the jury found Petitioner guilty of murder, first degree burglary, and attempted armed robbery. App. 539, ll. 9-17. He was sentenced by Judge Cottingham to thirty years imprisonment for murder, ten years consecutive for attempted armed robbery, and thirty years concurrent for first degree burglary. App. 555, ll. 7-16.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions. State v. Garner, 389 S.C. 61, 697 S.E.2d 615 (2010); App. 623-628. This Court denied the Petition for Writ of Certiorari by order dated February 8, 2012. App. 704.

On March 13, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 705-711. The state filed a return to this application dated April 18, 2012. App. 712-717. With the assistance of counsel, Petitioner filed an amended application for post-conviction relief on August 27, 2013 raising the issue argued in this brief. App. 718-719. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on August 27, 2013 before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr. App. 720. Assistant Attorney General Suzanne H. White represented the state, and Tristan M. Schaffer represented Petitioner. App. 720. By order dated January 30, 2014, Judge Maddox denied Petitioner relief. App. 861-876. On March 4, 2014, Petitioner filed a Motion to Reconsider

pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRC. App. 877-884. The court denied the Motion to Reconsider by order dated May 2, 2014. App. 885-887.

On February 23, 2015, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court. The state filed a return on April 9, 2015 and Petitioner filed a reply on April 17, 2015. By order dated July 23, 2015, this Court granted the petition by a vote of four justices with Justice Kittredge not participating. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to object to the unconstitutionally coercive *Allen*¹ charge.

Facts at Trial

The state alleged at trial that Petitioner entered the home of Amadro Flores Espinozat, an illegal alien from Mexico, searching for cocaine and money. The state's only evidence against Petitioner was the testimony of Lonya Sowdon who claimed she drove Petitioner and Alonzo Lee Pierce to the house and watched Petitioner beat Espinozat to death with the handle of a pistol while Pierce unsuccessfully searched the home.² See App. 58, l. 20 – 65, l. 5. Sowdon claimed that Petitioner and Pierce had learned from a "topless dancer" that there was \$75,000 inside the home and "anywhere from . . . eight to ten kilos of cocaine." App. 71, ll. 10-17. Sowdon admitted she was a crack addict and was caught in so many lies throughout her testimony that she had little credibility by the end of the trial. She was impeached not only with the two prior statements she gave to law enforcement, but also with the testimony of other witnesses. Moreover, there was no physical evidence connecting Petitioner to the murder or burglary. App. 291, l. 20-22.

Allen Charge

Jury deliberations began at 6:12 pm on the evening of May 31, 2007. App. 523, l. 23. Approximately two hours later, the jury requested to go home for the evening and continue

¹ Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

² Despite allegedly driving Petitioner and Pierce to the home and being present inside the house during the attempted robbery and murder, Sowdon was never charged. Pierce was charged with the same offenses as Petitioner. His charges were still pending at the time of Petitioner's trial. App. 103, l. 14-22.

deliberating the follow morning. Judge Cottingham dismissed the jury with instructions for them to return at 10:00 am the next day.³ App. 526, l. 18 – 527, l. 7.

The following morning, the jury continued deliberating on time at 10:00 am. Fifteen minutes later, at 10:15 am, the jury sent two written notes to the court. See Supp. App. 1-2. In response to these notes, the court invited the jury back into the courtroom. They entered at 10:33 am.⁴ The notes included several questions. Judge Cottingham maintained on the record that the questions were: (1) “clarification of the burden of proof, beyond a reasonable doubt,” (2) “What are we able to use to make a decision?,” (3) “Does eyewitness testimony fall under direct?,” and (4) **“If the jury is not in a position at this time to reach a unanimous verdict, must our final decision in this case be not guilty?”** App. 529, ll. 9-17; App. 531, ll. 17-20 (emphasis added).

According to the physical notes written by the jury, which were marked as Court’s Exhibit No. 5 and Court’s Exhibit No. 6, the actual questions were (1) “Please provide clarification: **If the jury is at an 11 to 1 stand still, must our final decision in this case be not guilty?** What are our options?” and (2) “Please give us clarification of ‘The Burden of Proof [and] ‘Beyond a Reasonable Doubt.’ What we are able to use to make our decision. Circumstantial Evidence. Direct Evidence. Eyewitness testimony falls under direct?” Supp. App. 1-2 (emphasis added).

³ The exact time in which the jury stopped deliberating on May 31, 2007 is not included in the record. However, when dismissing the jury that evening and asking them to return the following morning, Judge Cottingham stated, “Obviously, you didn’t get the case till about six o’clock. So, **two hours deliberation** in a case like this is obviously not sufficient.” App. 526, ll. 21-23 (emphasis added).

⁴ Before the jury entered the courtroom, there was no discussion on the record regarding the contents of the notes. However, trial counsel mentioned during the PCR hearing that the parties and the court may have discussed the contents of the notes in chambers before bringing the jury into the courtroom. See App. 791, ll. 16-20.

In addition to recharging the jury on reasonable doubt and direct and circumstantial evidence, the court also instructed the jury:

Now, you have asked me another question and I again thank you for it. "If the jury is not in a position at this time to reach a unanimous verdict, must our final decision in this case be not guilty," and the answer is absolutely not. Your verdict must be unanimous either guilty or unanimous not guilty. In the event that you are unable to reach a verdict then that's what we call a hung jury and that simply means that nobody wins. It simply means that sometime in the future some 12 folks chosen just like you will come into this courtroom, basically hear the same testimony, some jury just like you will hear the whole thing again and that issue will then be resolved. I have no reason to suggest or suspect that I will ever get 12 more people more dedicated, more anxious to do their duty than you 12; and so, don't walk away thinking that somebody wins and somebody loses. **It means everybody loses and our system has failed.**

Now, I charge you as I only can the only mode providing by our laws for a direct - - deciding questions of fact is by a verdict of the jury just like you. In most all cases, ladies and gentlemen, absolute certainty cannot be obtained or expected where the matter is in dispute initially. It isn't always even, easy for even two people to initially agree; and so, when 12 people must agree it becomes correspondingly more difficult. I tell you it is very unusual for a jury to go out and to immediately or quickly retain a verdict. You have only been deliberating two hours. The case lasted three days. That's not unusual. You've got a voluminous amount of matters to deal with. That is what would happen if a jury was in agreement to begin with. At the same time, ladies and gentlemen, we usually get a verdict under our system of jurisprudence. So, while it is normal for jurors to disagree at first, and I fully understand that, we nevertheless get a verdict after the jury has laid aside all extraneous or outside matters and have determined to try this case on its merits and on the basis of the law and evidence in this case, direct and circumstantial.

It has been said that jury service is perhaps the highest service a citizen can perform for his or her own country or state during peacetime, and I certainly agree with that. **However, a juror does not render good service who arbitrarily says, "I know what I want to do in this case and when everybody else agrees with me then we will write a verdict and we will not write a verdict until that time."** It was never intended that the verdict of the jurors should be the verdict of any one person, never intended for that. At the same time I tell you that every juror has a right to his or her own opinion, and if he or she needs, he or she need not give up that merely for the purpose of being in agreement. I would never say that to you. **However, the verdict of a jury is the collective reasoning of all jurors and that is why we have a jury of 12.** It is the duty of each of a jury to tell the others how he or she feels and why he or she may feel that way. Since the verdict of a jury is the

result of collective reasoning, it can be said that a verdict is a result of give and take. **With this in mind, I tell you that if the much larger of your number of panels are in favor of one position a dissenting juror or jurors should consider whether [or] not his or her position is a reasonable one, which makes no impression upon the minds of the majority. In other words, if a majority of you are of one position, the minority ought to seriously ask themselves whether they can reasonably doubt the correctness of the jury and judgment of the majority.** Although the verdict to which a jury agrees must, of course, be his or her own verdict, the result of his or her own convictions and not merely acquiescence in the conclusion of her or her fellow jurors, yet in order to bring 12 minds to a unanimous result you must examine the questions submitted to you with candor and with a proper regard to and a respect for the opinions of each other. You should also consider that you were selected in the same manner from the same source which any future jury will be and as I indicated a while ago there is certainly no reason for me to suppose that this case will ever be submitted to 12 people more intelligent, impartial and competent than you and note there's no reason for me to suspect that more or clearer evidence will ever be produced on one side or the other. **Ladies and gentlemen, in other words, a mistrial of this case is an unfortunate thing.** If you do not agree on a verdict of not guilty or guilty unanimously it does not mean that everybody wins. It just means that at some future time, I will try this case with some jury sitting just exactly where you are, the same participants will come and the same lawyers will ask basically the same questions and probably get basically the same answers, and we will go through the entire process again. **In conclusion, if the State of South Carolina and the people it represents is entitled to a verdict in this case, they are entitled to it today, not tomorrow, not next week, not next year. Equally important, if this Defendant is entitled to a verdict, he is entitled to it today, not next month nor next year, today,** and so it is, Mr. Foreman, ladies and gentlemen, recognizing that there are difficult issues for you to consider, understanding that voluminous evidence that has been in the trial of this case, I would ask that you go back, continue deliberations, have a give and take between the majority and the minority, however, however, it falls, would not ask anybody ever to give up their heartfelt opinions, but at the same time, regardless of which side your decision is to consider, too, the positions of the other side to ascertain whether or not that position, be it in the minority or majority, is a reasonable one.

. . . To answer your question again and that is this, if the jury is unable to reach a unanimous verdict must our final decision in the case be not guilty? The answer is absolutely no, no, never. Your verdict is either unanimously either not guilty or guilty. The only other thing would be no verdict at all, in which event I would have to declare a mistrial and we'd come in and do this whole thing again. Does that answer that question? Let there be no question about that. Your verdict has got to be unanimous either not guilty or guilty, and **we've got today and tomorrow to work through those issues.**

App. 537, l. 17 – 537, l. 13 (emphasis added).

At the end of this instruction, Judge Cottingham dismissed the jury and asked trial counsel whether he had “any exceptions or additions to the charge,” to which counsel responded, “No, sir, Your Honor.” App. 537, l. 21 – 538, l. 7. **Less than an hour later** at 11:27 am, the jury informed the court that it had reached a verdict. App. 538, l. 14. The jury found Petitioner guilty of murder, first degree burglary, and attempted armed robbery. App. 539, ll. 9-17.

PCR Hearing

Trial counsel, Stuart Axelrod, testified at the PCR hearing that the jury deliberated for two hours the first night and then was sent home for the evening. When they returned the next morning, the jury indicated it was “deadlocked.” App. 750, ll. 9-19. Axelrod explained that before Judge Cottingham gave the Allen charge, he had a conversation with Petitioner. Axelrod told Petitioner the jury was “deadlocked” and “I think I quoted to him the number of 10 to 2 or 11 to 1, not knowing which way [the jury was leaning].” App. 750, l. 20 – 751, l. 1.

Axelrod testified that language in the Allen charge given by Judge Cottingham was clearly “[s]peaking to the minority.” App. 762, l. 10 – 763, l. 7. He further explained that Judge Cottingham “leans real hard on them [the jurors],” not only with his choice of words, but with his “tone.” App. 765, ll. 13-25.

On cross-examination by the assistant attorney general, Axelrod testified that he did not think the Allen charge should have been given, especially since the jury had only been deliberating for two hours. He explained that he may have objected to the court giving the jury an Allen charge in chambers because he always objects “to an Allen charge if the jury is not out for at least four

hours.”⁵ According to Axelrod, Judge Cottingham wanted to move the case quickly, which is why he gave the Allen charge so early on in the jury’s deliberations. App. 789, l. 14 – 790, l. 12.

Additionally, he explained that the question asked by the jury was if they could not reach a unanimous verdict must their final decision be not guilty. Instead of giving an Allen charge in response to this question, he testified, “what should have been done there was a note sent back, [stating] no, and just let the jury keep deliberating.” App. 790, ll. 15-22. Moreover, Axelrod testified that “I made a mistake there” and “I just think it was wrong what he [Judge Cottingham] did.” He explained, “Judge Cottingham’s Allen charge is different than most because . . . he leans real hard. Sometimes my own opinion is that he tries to maybe . . . in a way make the jury feel stupid, like . . . you need to come back with an answer . . .” App. 792, ll. 16-25.

When questioned further by the assistant attorney general, Axelrod stated that he does not recall whether the jury came back with a particular number indicating how they were deadlocked, but he said, “I think the judge was aware of it.” App. 793, ll. 8-22. He explained, “According to my client [Petitioner] I informed him of the number. I’m only telling you what I was told by my client, but I wouldn’t have told my client something if I didn’t know it.”⁶ App. 793, l. 2 – 794, l. 12.

Petitioner testified that before the court gave the jury an Allen charge, Axelrod visited him “back in the holding area” and told him “that they [the jury] were at 11 to 1. He didn’t know which way it was going to go.” App. 822, ll. 2-9; App. 847, l. 21 – 848, l. 16. Petitioner explained that he

⁵ Despite Axelrod’s testimony that he *may* have objected to the court giving of an Allen charge in chambers, he made no objection on the record and stated after Judge Cottingham instructed the jury that he had no additions or exceptions to the charge. See App. 538, ll. 2-7; see also App. 790, l. 23-25.

⁶ The actual jury note, which was marked as Court’s Exhibit No. 5, is conclusive proof that Judge Cottingham was aware of the numerical division of the jury and supports Petitioner’s testimony that trial counsel told him how the jury was divided before Judge Cottingham gave the Allen charge. See Supp. App. 1.

thought the court's Allen charge was "coercing the jury into getting a conviction, pressuring the jury." App. 842, ll. 19-21. He explained further, "[H]e [Judge Cottingham] is supposed to be neutral, there is nothing neutral about saying I feel that [there is a] voluminous amount of evidence in this case, I ask that you go back there and continue deliberating . . . I'm telling you that I want a conviction today, not next week, not next year but today, and the State of [South] Carolina is entitled to this and the defendant is entitled to his. So he goes on to say that a mistrial would be, an unfortunate thing. Unfortunate for who? The State, not the defendant. And that's why I felt that the Allen charge was just leaning on the juror that was the one, the one juror that wasn't in agreement, that wasn't in agreement." App. 842, l. 22 – 844, l. 12.

Order of Dismissal

The PCR court found Petitioner's "allegation regarding the Allen charge to be without merit." App. 872. The court maintained that "[t]rial counsel testified he objected to the issuance of the Allen charge off the record in chambers." The court found trial counsel's testimony on this issue to be credible. App. 872. "However, because there is no record of an objection to the charge on the record," the PCR court said it could not "determine whether trial counsel's objection constituted adequate performance." App. 872.

Nevertheless, the court found Petitioner could not "show any prejudice from the lack of an objection to the issuance of the charge or to its specific language." App. 872. The court maintained, "The record clearly indicates the jury informed the court it could not reach a unanimous verdict at the time the charge was issued." App. 872. Therefore, the court found the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by giving the Allen charge. App. 872.

Moreover, the PCR court found the Allen charge did not contain any "objectionable language." The court noted Petitioner's argument that language in the charge was identical to

language found coercive by the South Carolina Supreme Court in Dawson v. State, 352 S.C. 15, 572 S.E.2d 442 (2002). The language found coercive in Dawson was:

I have sometimes thought that the juror who could render less service to the Court and to the country than any other juror is the juror who says, I know what I want to do in this case and when and if everybody agrees with me, then we'll write a verdict, and we'll not write a verdict until that time.

App. 872; see Dawson, 352 S.C. at 18, 572 S.E.2d at 444.

The PCR court admitted that the trial judge in Petitioner's case "recited that exact language to the jurors," but maintained that the judge "followed it by saying, 'I would never say that to you.'" App. 872. Thus, the court found the trial judge "essentially told the jury the exact opposite of what the trial judge told the jury in Dawson." App. 873.

Additionally, the PCR court attempted to further distinguish this case from Dawson. The court explained that in Dawson the jury was deadlocked at eleven to one and our Supreme Court found "the issuance of the Allen charge in that circumstance was clearly coercive to the minority juror." App. 873. In this case, however, the court indicated that while Petitioner testified that his jury was similarly deadlocked, "trial counsel testified that he could not recall ever knowing the exact numerical division." App. 873, ll. 873. On this point, the PCR court found trial counsel's testimony credible and Petitioner's testimony not credible. App. 873. Therefore, the court found the trial judge's charge was not coercive "because the judge was not aware of the division of the jury." App. 873.

Motion to Reconsider Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC

In his Motion to Reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), Petitioner challenged the PCR court's failure to make a finding on whether trial counsel "rendered adequate performance." The PCR court had maintained that it could not determine if trial counsel's performance was inadequate

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