RECEIVED

OCT 28 2015

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

S.C. Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001312

Luther Garner, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN M. WILSON
Attorney General

JESSICA E. KINARD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 77889

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Probative evidence supports the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to the trial judge's Allen charge.

A. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in issuing an Allen charge.

Petitioner first argues that trial counsel should have objected to the trial court's Allen charge because the jury had been deliberating for only two (2) hours. Respondent submits the length of deliberations is not relevant to the propriety of an Allen charge in this case.

The State has a legitimate interest in the expeditious yet fair disposition of criminal cases. See State v. Brown, 274 S.C. 592, 594, 266 S.E.2d 415, 416 (1980). There are also significant societal costs to retrial.¹ Id. As a result, a trial judge has the duty to urge a jury to reach a verdict, so long as it does not reach the level of coercion. Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002). "The typical judicial mechanism for encouraging an indecisive jury is the Allen charge, in which jurors are instructed on, among other things, their duties to approach the evidence with an open mind and consider the opinions of their fellow jurors." State v. Williams, 386 S.C. 503, 510, 690 S.E.2d 62, 65 (2010) (quoting State v. Robinson, 360 S.C. 187, 193, 600 S.E.2d 100, 103 (Ct. App. 2004)).

Here, the jury indicated to the trial judge it had been unable to reach a unanimous verdict. Because the jury indicated it was deadlocked, the trial judge had the discretion to issue an Allen charge. See State v. Kelly, 372 S.C. 167, 171, 641 S.E.2d 468, 470 (Ct.

¹ Cf. State v. Kelsey, 321 S.C. 50, 69, 502 S.E.2d 63, 73 (1998) ("The power of the court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution[.]" (citations omitted)); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 28, 236 S.E.2d 33, 34 (1977) ("The power of a court to declare a mistrial ought to be used with the greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes.").

App. 2007) (“The decision to issue an Allen charge is within the sound discretion of the trial judge.”). The fact the charge came after only two (2) hours of deliberation, in light of the jury’s indication of a deadlock, is irrelevant to the whether the trial judge could issue the charge. This is reflected in the language of the Order of Dismissal from the post-conviction relief court, in which the judge states that “the charge contained no objectionable language” because the only potentially questionable phrasing was used an example of what should never be said to a jury. App. pp. 872-3.

Furthermore, trial counsel testified at the post-conviction relief hearing that he was not aware of the division of the jury. App. p. 804, ll. 13-16. Though the judge and jury may have known, trial counsel could not object to the charge as pressuring the minority because the jury could have been evenly split. Regardless, trial counsel testified that he remembered objecting in chambers. Because the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in issuing the charge, trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to the issuance of the charge. Petitioner cannot show prejudice in the outcome of his trial and, therefore, fails to carry the burden in order for him to prevail.

B. The Allen charge, viewed as a whole, is not unduly coercive.

Petitioner also argues trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the Allen charge as unduly coercive. Respondent submits the post-conviction relief judge properly found the charge is not coercive in light of the entire record.

“Whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive must be judged in its context and under all the circumstances.” Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 491, 552 S.E.2d 712, 716 (2001). It is not coercion when a trial judge instructs the jury that failure to reach a verdict will require a new trial at additional expense, or states that every juror

has a right to his own opinion and need not give it up merely for the purpose of reaching agreement. State v. Singleton, 319 S.C. 312, 316, 460 S.E.2d 573, 575-76 (1995).

This Court has adopted a very fact intensive, four (4) factor analysis in determining whether a given Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive. Tucker at 492, 552 S.E.2d at 716 (2001) (citing Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988)). The Court looks to 1) whether the charge was directed at minority jurors; 2) whether there was any “you must return a verdict” type of language; 3) whether there was an inquiry into the jury’s numerical division; and 4) the timing of the verdict’s return. Id. These factors are viewed together, in the particular setting at issue. Id. at 495, 552 S.E.2d at 718. In determining whether an Allen charge is unconstitutionally coercive, the Court conducts “[a] fair reading of the actual jury charge.” Green, 351 S.C. at 195, 569 S.E.2d at 324. The charge “must be judged *in its context and under all the circumstances.*”² Williams, 386 S.C. at 512, 690 S.E.2d at 66 (emphasis added) (citing Tucker at 490, 552 S.E.2d at 716).

The post-conviction relief judge, after the record and hearing testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, addressed each of these factors in context and found the Allen charge given in Petitioner’s trial was not coercive. App. p. 873, 886. Probative evidence supports this conclusion as to each of the four (4) Lowenfield factors:

1. Did the charge speak specifically to minority jurors.

The post-conviction relief judge properly found the charge did not speak specifically to the minority jurors. (App. p. 886). Petitioner relies on an out of context reading of specific passages from the charge, and fails to give deference to the post-

² Cf. State v. Logan, 405 S.C. 83, 90, 747 S.E.2d 444, 448 (2013) (“In reviewing jury charges for error, this Court considers the trial court’s jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.”).

conviction relief judge's findings with regards to the entirety of the charge. A reading of the trial judge's Allen charge as it appears in the record supports post-conviction relief judge's conclusion the charge was not directed to the minority jurors, but addressed both the minority and majority, encouraging them to reexamine their position in light of the other side. Crucially, the trial judge asked the jury, upon resuming deliberations, to "have a give and take *between the majority and the minority.*" (App. p. 535, l. 10-12 (emphasis added)). The trial judge further charged he "would not ask anybody ever to give up their heartfelt opinions, but at the same time, *regardless of which side your decision is on* consider, too, the positions of the other side to ascertain whether or not that position, be it in the minority or majority, is a reasonable one." (App. p. 535, l. 13-17 (emphasis added)).

This point is emphasized in Workman v. State, 412 S.C. 128, 771 S.E.2d 636 (2015), a recent opinion from this Court, which Petitioner cites to support the opposing idea that the judge targeted the minority. Specifically, the Court in Workman found that there was error in the judge's failure to charge the majority to reconsider the stance of the minority; though, in the case at bar, the trial judge specifically asked the majority to also reconsider its position, as stated above. The excerpts that Petitioner specifies, taken out of context, may be coercive. But, when read in conjunction with the equally strong language noted above and throughout the entire charge, Petitioner's highlighted language is not unduly coercive.

Petitioner's cited cases support this sort of context-driven conclusion. The contested language in Dawson v. State, 352 S.C. 15, 20, 572 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2002), for example, was only found to be coercive "[u]nder the circumstances" of that particular

case. The Court further emphasized that any perception that the contested language was directed toward the minority was “depend[ent] on the context.” Id.

The context and circumstances that led the Dawson Court to find that charge targeted the minority and was coercive are not present in this case. It was the language, together with the fact that the trial judge verbally – in the presence of the jury – “confirmed the existence of one minority juror *immediately before* the Allen charge” that led the Court to conclude the language was “clearly directed to the ‘holdout.’” Id. at 21, 572 S.E.2d at 447-48 (emphasis added). The trial judge in Dawson also failed to warn the jury not to disclose their division in the future, which led to subsequent disclosures.³ Id. at 17-18, 20, 572 S.E.2d at 446-47. Similarly, in Tucker, 346 S.C. at 493, 552 S.E.2d at 717, the key factors were that “the trial judge knew, and apparently the jury knew that he knew” the numerical split; that there were fewer holdout jurors than the night before; and that there was a specific alignment as to guilt or innocence.

In contrast, this Court has held in Green, 351 S.C. at 195, 569 S.E.2d at 324, that an Allen charge was not prejudicial where there was “nothing in the record to suggest the minority view was favorable to [the defendant].” The court of appeals has also ruled that an Allen charge is not directed at the minority juror where “nothing in the record indicates the judge knew how the jury was aligned concerning guilt or innocence.” State v. Jones, 320 S.C. 555, 559, 466 S.E.2d 733, 735 (Ct. App. 1996).

In each of the cases finding Allen charges coercive, this Court found the offending language inappropriately targeted the minority jurors where the judge understood which jurors were in the minority. See also State v. Elmore, 279 S.C. 417,

³ While the trial judge in the present case also failed to warn the jury not to reveal their split in the future, no prejudice resulted where they did not subsequently reveal their numerical division.

423, 308 S.E.2d 781, 785 (1983), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (charge coercive where judge told the jury he “knew what members of the jury panel were opposed to the concept of capital punishment”).⁴ In the present case, the post-conviction relief judge found the record did not contain evidence the trial judge had knowledge of the jury’s division. Although the trial judge may have known the exact numerical division, there is no evidence he knew the alignment. There is also no evidence the trial judge made any inquiries as to the alignment or that his lack of a warning not to disclose the alignment led to a subsequent disclosure. See Green, 351 S.C. at 195, 569 S.E.2d at 324 (“One may speculate just as freely the minority view at that juncture of deliberations wished to convict Green.”). Furthermore, innocent knowledge of the numerical division is not sufficient to make a charge *per se* coercive. Williams, 386 S.C. at 515, 690 S.E.2d at 68 (“Here, without solicitation the jury disclosed its numerical division to the trial judge who then informed the trial attorneys.”). Therefore, the mere fact the trial judge knew of the division does not make his Allen charge coercive where he otherwise encouraged the minority jurors to not abdicate their position simply because they were in the minority.

Finally, Petitioner argues the trial court’s tone in delivering the Allen charge made it unconstitutionally coercive. Petitioner cites no authority for this proposition, and none exists. The only relevant “tone” in an analysis of an Allen charge is that of the charge itself, when read as a whole. As noted supra, the charge here was not coercive. Thus, this Court must presume the jury followed the trial judge’s instruction, irrespective

⁴ Respondent also notes many cases involving coercive Allen charges were capital cases where the death penalty was imposed.

of the tenor of his voice when he delivered it. Cf. State v. Lindsey, 372 S.C. 185, 194, 642 S.E.2d 557, 562 (2007) (court “will not presume a juror engaged in misconduct”).

2. Was there any “you must return a verdict” type of language.

The post-conviction relief judge properly found that the Allen charge did not mandate the jury reach a decision. (App. p. 886). It is not coercion to charge that the failure to reach a verdict will require a new trial at additional expense. State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 99, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996). Here, the jury specifically asked the trial judge whether, in the event they could not reach a unanimous verdict, they would have to return a not-guilty verdict. (App. p. 531, l. 18-20; p. 537, l. 3-6). In response, the trial judge clarified that a verdict must be unanimous—whether it be guilty or not guilty. (App. p. 531, l. 21-22). The judge further explained that in the event they were unable to reach a unanimous verdict, the alternative was a “hung jury,” or a mistrial. (App. p. 531, l. 23; p. 537, l. 3-10). The trial judge’s language is clear and unambiguous: the jury’s options are either a unanimous verdict or a mistrial. The trial judge did not err in informing the jury of the costs of failing to reach a verdict.

3. Was there an inquiry into the jury’s numerical division.

Importantly, Petitioner does not allege that the trial judge made any actual inquiry into the jury’s numerical division. Instead, Petitioner merely argues the trial judge was aware of the division. However, mere knowledge of the division is not sufficient to find the charge coercive. Williams, 386 S.C. at 515, 690 S.E.2d at 68; Green, 351 S.C. at 195, 569 S.E.2d at 324; Jones, 320 S.C. 555, 559, 466 S.E.2d 733, 735. The record contains no evidence the trial judge knew the alignment of the jury. It also contains no evidence the trial judge requested the jury keep him abreast of the alignment. Additionally

informative is the fact that Petitioner's trial attorney testified that he was unaware of the division of the jury, and that his testimony was found credible.

4. What was the timing of the return of the verdict?

The post-conviction relief judge found that the Allen charge did not set an inappropriate time limit on jury deliberations. (App. p. 886). Petitioner highlights the fact the jury came back with a verdict of guilty less than an hour after being given the Allen charge. However, the time spent deliberating after being read the charge is not that great in light of the time previously spent deliberating.

The jury began deliberating at 6:12 p.m. (App. p. 523, l. 23). They spent approximately two hours deliberating before being dismissed for the evening, with no indication of a deadlock at that point. (App. p. 526, l. 21-23). The jury returned at 10:00 a.m. the next morning. (App. p. 528, l. 18-20). They sent a question to the trial judge at 10:15 a.m., and entered the courtroom at 10:33 a.m. (App. p. 528, l. 18-20). The verdict was then read at 11:27, just under an hour later. (App. p. 538, l. 14). Regardless of the time between the end of the charge and the final verdict, the roughly one hour of deliberations the next morning constitutes approximately one-third of the total time the jury spent deliberating on the issue. Viewed appropriately, the jury in the present case cannot be said to have spent so short a time after the Allen charge was given so as to create an inference of coercion. Cf. Youmans ex rel. Elmore v. S.C. Dept. of Transp., 380 S.C. 263, 282, 670 S.E.2d 1, 10 (Ct. App. 2008) (overview of the "spate of juridical writings" limiting the discretion to overturn a jury verdict based on the length of deliberations).

Petitioner highlights many instances of potentially troubling language in the trial judge's Allen charge. However, those instances are few and far between the relatively innocuous portions of the charge that encourage the jury to "listen to what the other side had to say; to be open to change one's mind; and to not change one's mind if it would do violence to one's conscience." Green, 351 S.C. at 195, 569 S.E.2d at 323-24. Respondent submits the overall tone of the Allen charge was neutral and not aimed at the minority jurors, and therefore not unduly coercive. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief judge's finding trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to object to the language of the charge is supported by probative evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully requests this Court deny and dismiss the grant of Certiorari as improvidently granted.